

**BYLAWS  
OF  
CEDAR LAKE ESTATES PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.**

This corporation is referred to as Cedar Lake Estates Section 1 Property Owners Association, Inc. in the Declarations referred in herein below, however, the name of this corporation has been filed with the Oklahoma Secretary of State as Cedar Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc. Any references to Cedar Lake Estates Section 1 Property Owners Association, Inc. shall mean and refer to the Cedar Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc.

**This policy supersedes any previously adopted policy as of February 1, 2017. The bylaws apply to all section of Cedar Lake Estates and the Villas of Cedar Lake Estates.**

**ARTICLE I  
PURPOSE AND PARTIES**

**1. Governance of Regime.**

The purpose for which this nonprofit corporation is formed is to own, manage and maintain the Common Areas and other properties of the Association in the planned Lot development known as Cedar Lake Estates and the Villas of Cedar Lake Estates, hereinafter referred to as the "Project," situated in the County of Logan, State of Oklahoma, which property is described in the Declarations of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions ("Declaration") of the Project and which property has been submitted to the regime created by the Real Estate Development Act of the State of Oklahoma by the recording of the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions on record at the County Clerk's office of Logan County. All definitions contained in said Declarations, and any amendments thereto, shall apply hereto and are incorporated herein by reference.

**2. Owners Subject to These Bylaws; Acceptance of Bylaws.**

All present or future owners, tenants, future tenants of any Lot, or any other person who might use in any manner the Common Areas or any facilities or property of the Association are subject to the provisions and any regulations set forth in these Bylaws. The mere acquisition, lease or rental of any Lot or the mere act of occupancy of a Lot will signify that these Bylaws are accepted, approved, ratified, and will be complied with.

**ARTICLE II  
MEMBERSHIP, VOTING, MAJORITY OF CO-OWNERS ("OWNERS"), QUORUM, PROXIES**

**1. Membership.**

Except as is otherwise provided in the Declarations, the Articles of Incorporation or in these Bylaws, ownership of a Lot in the Project is required in order to qualify for membership in this Association. Any person on becoming an owner of a Lot shall mandatorily and automatically become a member of this Association and be subject to these Bylaws. Such membership shall be terminated without any formal Association action whenever such person ceases to own a Lot, but such termination shall not relieve or release any such former owner from any liability or obligations incurred under or in any way connected to this Association, during the period of such ownership and membership or impair any rights or remedies which the owners have, either

through the Board of Directors of the Association or directly, against such former owner and member arising out of or in any way connected with ownership and membership and the covenants and obligations incident thereto.

**2. Voting.**

There shall be one vote per one Lot owned. Co-owners or joint tenants may only exercise one vote. No fractional votes are allowed. No Lot owner who is not current in his/her/their annual dues may vote at any meeting.

**3. Quorum.**

Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the presence in person or by proxy of one-third (1/3<sup>rd</sup>) of the owners (if voting is disproportionate owners shall mean the number of votes) shall constitute a quorum. In the event a quorum is not present, then the meeting called shall be adjourned, and if notice has not already been given, notice of a new meeting for the same purposes within two (2) to four (4) weeks shall be sent by first class mail, electronic mail (e-mail), or in person, at which meeting the number of owners represented in person or by proxy shall be sufficient to constitute a quorum. An affirmative vote of a majority of the members either in person or by proxy shall be required to transact the business of the meeting.

**4. Proxies.**

Votes may be cast in person, electronic mail (e-mail), or by written proxy. Proxies must be filed with the Secretary or assistant Secretary of the Association before the appointed time of each meeting.

**ARTICLE III  
ADMINISTRATION**

**1. Association Responsibilities.**

The Cedar Lake Estates Property Owners Association, Inc. hereinafter referred to as "Association", will have the responsibility of administering the project through a Board of Directors. The Association shall have the direct obligation and responsibility for maintenance, operation and repair of the Common Areas including the areas appurtenant to statutory street right-of-ways along section line roads and any other areas shown on the plat as common right-of-way such as entrances and center medians. It is the intent of this Declaration to require the Association to maintain all areas outside any lot line including any improvements made by the Declarant or the Board of Directors for the benefit of the neighborhood.

**2. Place of Meeting.**

Meetings of the Association shall be held at such suitable place, convenient to the owners, as the Board of Directors may determine.

**3. Annual Meetings.**

Annual meetings of the Association shall be held in January of each succeeding year OR as set by the Board of Directors. At such meetings there shall be elected by ballot of the members a Board of Directors in accordance with the requirements of Paragraph 5 of Article IV of these Bylaws. The owners may also transact such other business of the Association as may properly come before them.

**4. Special Meetings.**

It shall be the duty of the President to call a special meeting of the members as directed by resolution of the Board of Directors or upon a petition signed by a majority in voting interest of the owners and having been presented to the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Association. The notice of any special meeting shall state the time and place of such meeting and the purpose thereof. No business except as stated in the notice shall be transacted at a special meeting unless by consent of two-thirds (2/3), in interest, of the owners present, either in person or by proxy. Any such meeting shall be held after the first annual meeting and shall be held within thirty (30) days after receipt by the President of such resolution or petition.

**5. Notice of Meeting.**

It shall be the duty of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Association to give notice of each meeting (annual or special), by first class mail, electronic mail (e-mail), or in person stating the purpose thereof as well as the time and place it is to be held, to each owner of record at least ten (10) days, but not more than thirty (30) days to such meeting. Notice of the annual meeting of the Association may also include notice of the subsequent meeting to be held in the event a quorum is not achieved at the called meeting.

**6. Order of Business.**

The order of business at all meeting of the owners shall be determined by the Board of Directors. In lieu of a written agenda by the Board of Directors the order of business shall be as follows:

- (a) Roll call and certifying proxies;
- (b) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice;
- (c) Reading and disposal of unapproved minutes;
- (d) Reports of officers;
- (e) Reports of committees;
- (f) Election of directors, as applicable;
- (g) Unfinished business;
- (h) New Business; and
- (i) Adjournment.

**ARTICLE IV  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

**1. Number, Qualification and Appointment or Election.**

The Board shall consist of five (5) Directors, each of whom shall be a lot owner. At any subsequent annual meeting, Directors shall be elected and removed according to these Bylaws, and who shall thereafter govern the affairs of this Association until their successors have been duly elected and qualified. Nominations for election as a Director at any annual meeting of the Members shall be taken from the floor from any qualified Owner. No Owner who is not current in his, her, or their annual dues may nominate or be nominated to be a Director.

**2. General Powers and Duties**

The Board of Directors shall have the powers and duties necessary for the administration of the affairs of the Association and for the operation and maintenance of a first class residential project. The Board of Directors may do all such acts and things except as prohibited by law or by these Bylaws or by the Declaration.

**3. Other Powers and Duties.**

Such powers and duties of the Board of Directors shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following, all of which shall be done for and on behalf of the owners of the Project:

(a) Administration.

To administer and enforce the covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, uses, limitations, obligations, and all other provisions set forth in the Declaration submitting the property to the provisions of the law of the State of Oklahoma, the Bylaws of the Association and supplements and amendments hereto.

(b) Rules and Regulations; Fines.

To establish, make and enforce compliance with such reasonable rules as may be necessary for the operation, use and occupancy of the project with the right to amend same from time to time. The amount of a fine adopted by the Board shall be included in the adopted Rules and Regulations, as stated in Article XVI of these Bylaws.

(c) Maintenance of Common Areas.

To keep in good order condition and repair all of the general common areas and all items of common personal property used by the owners in the enjoyment of the entire premises.

(d) Insurance.

To insure and keep insured all of the insurable common areas of the property in an amount equal to their maximum replacement value as is provided in the Declaration. To insure and keep insured all common fixtures, equipment and personal property for the benefit of the owners of the Lots and their mortgagees. Further, to obtain and maintain comprehensive liability insurance covering the entire premises in amount not less than \$100,000.00 per person and \$300,000.00 per accident and \$50,000.00 property damages, and to obtain such other insurance policies as deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

(e) Budget; Determination of Assessments; Increase or Decrease of Same; Levy of Special Assessments.

To prepare an annual budget. To levy and collect special assessments, whenever, in the opinion of the Board, it is necessary to do so in order to meet increased operating or maintenance expenses or costs, or additional capital expenses, or because of emergencies.

(f) Enforcement of Assessment; Lien Rights.

To collect delinquent assessments by suit or otherwise and to enjoin or seek damages from an owner who may be in default as is provided for in the Declaration and these Bylaws. To collect interest at the rate set by the Board of Directors in connection with assessments remaining unpaid more than thirty (30) days from due date for payment thereof, together with all expenses, including attorney's fees incurred.

(g) Protect and Defend.

To protect and defend the entire premises from loss and damage by suit or otherwise.

- (h) Borrow Funds.  
To borrow funds in order to pay for any expenditure or outlay required pursuant to the authority granted by the provisions of the recorded Declaration and these Bylaws, and to execute all such instruments evidencing such indebtedness as the Board of Directors may deem necessary.
- (i) Contract.  
To enter into contracts within the scope of their duties and powers.
- (j) Bank Account.  
To establish a bank account or accounts for the common treasury and for all separate funds which are required or may be deemed advisable by the Board of Directors.
- (k) Manage.  
To make repairs, additions, alterations and improvements to the general common areas consistent with managing the project in a first class manner and consistent with the best interests of the members.
- (l) Books and Records.  
To keep and maintain full and accurate books and records showing all of the receipts, expenses or disbursements and to permit examination thereof by each of the owners and each first mortgagee, and to cause a review of the books and accounts by a qualified person once a year.
- (m) Annual Statement.  
To prepare and deliver annually to each owner a statement showing receipts, expenses, and disbursements since the last such statements.
- (n) Meetings.  
To meet at least quarterly, provided that any Board of Directors meeting may be attended and conducted by telephone or other device which permits all of the Directors in attendance to participate in such meeting, and provided further that any action required to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or any action which may be taken at such meeting, may be taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the members of the Board.
- (o) Personnel.  
To designate, employ and dismiss the personnel necessary for the maintenance and operations of the common areas or other administration of the project.
- (p) Administration of the Association.  
In general, to carry on the administration of this Association and to do all of those things necessary and reasonable in order to carry out the governing and the operation of this project.
- (q) Managing Agent.  
The Board of Directors may employ for the Association a management agent (Managing Agent) who shall have and exercise all of the powers granted to the Board of Directors by the Declaration and Bylaws.

(r) **Property Manager Duties; Management Agreement.**

To employ workmen, and others; to contract for services to be performed, including those of a Manager; to purchase supplies and equipment; to enter into contracts; and generally to have the powers of an apartment house or property manager in connection with the matters herein set forth, except that the Association may not encumber or dispose of the fee title of any Owner except to satisfy a lien, award or judgment against such Owner for violation of the Owner's covenants imposed by this Declaration. The Association shall not enter into any contract or management agreement for the furnishing of services (other than utility services), materials or supplies, the terms of which is in excess of one year, and further provided, that any contract or management agreement entered into (excluding those utilities) by the Association shall be terminable by the Association for cause upon thirty (30) days written notice or without cause or payment of a termination fee upon ninety (90) days written notice.

(s) **Ownership of Lots.**

To own, convey, encumber, lease or otherwise deal with Lots conveyed to it as a result of enforcement of the lien for common expenses or otherwise.

(t) **All Things Necessary and Proper.**

To do all things necessary and proper for the sound and efficient management of the project.

(u) **Tax Exempt Status.**

To determine each year the advisability of election of tax exempt status under the appropriate Section of the Internal Revenue Code.

**4. No Waiver of Rights.**

The omission or failure of the Association or any owner to enforce the covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, use limitations, obligations or other provisions of the Declaration, the Bylaws or the regulations and rules adopted pursuant thereto, shall not constitute or be deemed a waiver, modification or release thereof, and the Board of Directors or the Managing Agent shall have the right to enforce the same thereafter.

**5. Election and Term of Office; Staggered Office.**

Directors shall be elected to serve a term of two (2) years. If more Directors are elected by the Association, the terms of the additional Directors should also be staggered so that approximately one-half of the authorized Directors are elected each year. The Directors shall hold office until their successors have been elected and hold their first meeting, except as otherwise provided. If a successor has not been elected at the end of a Director's term that Directors term shall be extended until a successor has been elected.

**6. Vacancies in Board.**

Vacancies in the Board of Directors caused by any reason other than the removal of a Director by a vote of the Association shall be filled by the vote of the majority of the remaining Directors; even though they may constitute less than a quorum; and each person so elected shall be a Director until a successor is elected at the next annual meeting of the Association.

**7. Removal of Directors.**

At any regular or special meeting duly called, any one or more of the Directors may be removed with or without cause by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the members entitled to vote, and a successor may then and there be elected to fill the vacancy thus created. Any Director whose removal has been proposed by the owners shall be given an opportunity to be heard at the meeting. Should any director miss three consecutive regular meeting of the Board of Directors, he shall be automatically removed from the Board and a successor selected and approved by the Board to fill his unexpired term.

**8. Directors' Organization Meeting.**

The organizational meeting of a newly elected Board of Directors shall be held immediately following the annual members meeting, and no notice shall be necessary to the newly elected Directors in order legally to constitute such meeting, providing a majority of the whole Board shall be present.

**9. Directors' Regular Meetings.**

Regular meetings to the Board of Directors may be held at such time and place as shall be determined, from time to time, by a majority of the Directors, but at least one such meeting shall be held during each calendar quarter. Notice of regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director, personally or by mail, telephone or electronically at least five (5) days prior to the day named for such meeting.

**10. Directors' Special Meetings.**

Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President on five (5) days notice to each Director, given personally, by mail, telephone or electronically, which notice shall state the time, place (as hereinabove provided) and purpose of the meeting. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be called by the President or Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Association in like manner and on like notice on the written request of one or more Directors.

**11. Waiver of Notice.**

Before or at any meeting of the Board of Directors, any Director may, in writing, waive notice of such meeting and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Attendance by a Director at any meeting of the Board shall be a waiver of notice by him of the time and place thereof. If all the Directors are present at any meeting of the Board, no notice shall be required and any business may be transacted at such meeting.

**12. Board of Directors' Quorum.**

At all meetings of the Board, a majority of the Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the acts of the majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the Board of Directors. If, at any meeting of the Board of Directors, there be less than a quorum present, the majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time. At any such adjourned meeting, any business which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice.

**13. Compensation.**

No member of the Board of Directors shall receive any compensation for acting as such. However, members of the Board of Directors or Association may be reimbursed for expenses

incurred by them in the performance of Association business. Compensation does not include gifts of appreciation or condolences to any member of outgoing Directors.

## **ARTICLE V FISCAL MANAGEMENT**

The provision for fiscal management of the association for and on behalf of all of the members as set forth in the Declaration shall be supplemented by the following provisions:

**1. Fiscal Year.**

The fiscal year of the Association shall be the calendar year.

**2. Dues; Due Date; Adjustment; Commencement.**

- (a) Dues: The annual dues are hereby determined to be \$600.00 per year as stated in the Declarations and begin in the year 2006. The dues should be prorated from the date of closing to the end of the year and then thereafter shall be collected annually. Following the annual meeting, homeowners will be invoiced for the amount of dues for the upcoming year. It is the responsibility of the owner to produce evidence to prove that dues were paid. A returned check fee will be assessed in the amount of \$25.00 if a check is not honored.
- (b) Invoice: Except for those homeowners who move to Cedar Lake Estates after the invoicing period, it is the responsibility of the homeowner to pay the dues before the due date, regardless of whether an invoice was received.
- (c) Due Date: The dues must be paid by May 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.
- (d) Late Fee: A \$50.00 late fee shall be charged if dues are paid later than the due date. The dues and any late fees must be paid by June 1<sup>st</sup>. All dues paid after May 1<sup>st</sup> MUST include the late fee before it is considered paid.
- (e) Past Due Notice: If the dues and late fees are not paid by June 1<sup>st</sup>, a letter will be sent informing the resident/owner that they will have until June 15<sup>th</sup> (15 more days) until the debt is sent for collection and/or a lien filed.
- (f) Assessment Adjustment: During the period of Declarants management the dues may be adjusted up or down as necessary for a developing neighborhood. Once a homeowner board has been elected the annual dues may be increased each year by the Board of Directors up to ten (10%) percent of the previous year's dues without approval of the membership. Any increase in excess of ten (10%) percent must be approved by a majority vote of those members in attendance at the annual meeting, or any special meeting called for that purpose.



**3. Accounts.**

The funds and expenditures of the members by and through the Association shall be credited and charged to accounts under the following classifications as shall be appropriate, all of which expenditures shall be common expenses:

- (a) Current or Common expenses, which shall include all funds and expenditures within the year for which the funds are budgeted, including a reasonable allowance for contingencies and working funds, except expenditures chargeable to reserves and to additional improvements.
- (b) Reserves for deferred maintenance, which shall include funds for maintenance items which occur less frequently than annually.
- (c) Reserves for replacement (sinking funds), which shall include funds for repair or replacement required because of damage, wear or obsolescence.
- (d) Capital improvements, which shall include funds for construction of new improvements for which reserves for replacement have not been established.

**ARTICLE VI  
OFFICERS**

**1. Designation.**

The officers of the Association shall be a President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and Member at Large, all of whom shall be members of and elected by the Board of Directors, and such assistant officers as the Board shall, from time to time, elect. Such assistant officers need not to be members of the Board of Directors, but each shall be an owner of a Lot.

**2. Election of Officers.**

The officers of the Association shall be elected by the Board of Directors and shall hold a two (2) year term office subject to the continuing approval of the Board. The President, Secretary and Member at Large will be elected in even years. The Vice President and Treasurer will be elected in odd years.

**3. Removal of Officers.**

Upon an affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors, any officer may have his office removed either with or without cause, and his successor elected at any regular meeting of the Board of Directors, or at any special meeting of the Board called for such purpose. Members of the Board may only be removed by vote of the owners as provided elsewhere in these Bylaws.

**4. President.**

The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association. He shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Board of Directors unless he is absent. He shall have all of the general powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of president of an association, including but not limited to the power to appoint committees from among the owners from time to time as he may, in his discretion, decide are appropriate to assist in the operation of the Association or as may be established by the Board or by the members of the Association at any regular or special meeting.

**5. Vice President.**

The Vice President shall have all of the powers and authority and perform all of the functions and duties of the President, in the absence of the President, or his inability for any reason to exercise such powers and functions or perform such duties, and also perform any duties he is directed to perform by the President.

**6. Secretary.**

(a) The Secretary shall keep all the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and the minutes of all meetings of the Association; he shall have charge of such books and papers as the Board of Directors may direct; and he shall, in general; perform all the duties incident to the office of Secretary and as is provided in the Declaration and the Bylaws.

(b) The Secretary shall compile and keep up to date at the principal office of the Association a complete list of members and their last known addresses as shown on the records of the Association. Such list shall also show opposite each member's name the number or other appropriate designation of the Lot owned by such member. Such list shall be open to inspection by members and other persons lawfully entitled to inspect the same at reasonable times during regular business hours.

**7. Treasurer.**

The Treasurer shall have responsibility for Association funds and shall be responsible for keeping full and accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Association. He shall be responsible for the deposit of all monies and other valuables effects in the name, and to the credit of the Association in such depositories as may from time to time be designated by the Board of Directors. In the event a Managing Agent has the responsibility of collecting and disbursing funds, the Treasurer shall review the accounts of the Managing Agent within fifteen (15) days after the first day of each month.

**8. Member at Large.**

The Member at Large shall perform any duties directed to him by the President. The Member at Large shall represent the general membership on issues of interest or concern, as well as conduct activities that further the goals of the organization.

**ARTICLE VII  
INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND MANAGING AGENT**

**1. Indemnification.**

The Association shall indemnify through insurance or other means every Director, Officer, Managing Agent, their respective successors, personal representatives and heirs, against all loss, costs and expenses, including counsel fees, reasonably incurred by him in connection with any action, suite or proceedings to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a Director, Officer, or Managing Agent of the Association, except as to matters as to which he shall be finally adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding to be liable for gross negligence or willful misconduct. In the event of a settlement, indemnification shall be provided only in connection with such matters covered by the settlement as to which the Association is advised by counsel that the person to be indemnified has not been guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of his duty as such Director, Officer or Managing Agent in relation to the matter involved. The foregoing rights shall not be exclusive of other rights to which such

Director, Officer or Managing Agent may be entitled. All liability, loss, damage, cost and expense incurred or suffered by the Association by reason or arising out of or in connection with the foregoing indemnification provisions shall be treated and handled by the Association as common expenses; provided, however that nothing in this Article VII shall be deemed to obligate the Association to indemnify any member or owner of a Lot who is or has been a director or officer of the Association with respect to any duties or obligations assumed or liability incurred by him under and by virtue of the Declaration.

**2. No Personal Liability.**

Contracts or other commitments made by the Board of Directors, Officers or the Managing Agent shall be made as agent for the members, and they shall have no personal responsibility on any such contract or commitment (except as members), and the liability of any member of such contract or commitment shall be limited to such proportionate share of the total liability thereof as the common interest of each member bears to the total assets of the Association.

**ARTICLE VIII  
AMENDMENT TO BYLAWS**

**1. Amendments to Bylaws.**

These Bylaws may be amended by the Initial Directors at any time prior to the first annual meeting of the membership. Thereafter, the Board of Directors from time to time in accordance with the Association's governing documents, may in any open meeting amend, adopt or delete, the Rules and Regulations, Policies and Procedures of the Association with a majority vote from the Board. Should the Board make changes to the above, it shall give all members access to a copy within 30 days after adopting the change. Any part of governing documents that do not comply with Federal State and Local law shall not be enforceable.

**ARTICLE IX  
EVIDENCE OF OWNERSHIP, REGISTRATION OF MAILING ADDRESS AND  
DESIGNATION OF VOTING REPRESENTATIVE**

**1. Proof of Ownership.**

Any person, on becoming an owner of a Lot, shall furnish to the Managing Agent or Board of Directors a true and correct copy of the original or a certified copy of the recording instrument vesting that person with an interest or ownership in the Lot, which copy shall remain in the file of the Association. A member shall not be deemed to be in good standing nor shall be entitled to vote at any annual or special meeting of members unless this requirement is first met.

**2. Closing and Acknowledgement of Restrictions.**

In conjunction with furnishing to parties such as closing agents, notice of any lien claim by the Association for unpaid dues and assessments the Board of Directors, or Managing Agent, shall require the Seller-Lot Owner, or the closing agent, to obtain from the Purchaser of a Lot a signed acknowledgement of receipt of a copy of the Declarations, Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and the rules or regulations of the Association, if any. Copies of these instruments will be furnished by the Association for this purpose to every Lot Owner, closing or transfer agent or Purchaser.

**3. Registration of Mailing Address.**

The owner or several owners of an individual Lot shall have one and the same registered mailing address to be used by the Association for mailing of annual statements, notices, demands and all other communications, and such registered address shall be the only mailing address of a person or persons, firm, corporation, partnership, association or other legal entity or any combination thereof to be used by the Association. Such registered address of an owner or owners shall be furnished by such owner(s) to the Managing Agent or Board of Directors within fifteen (15) days after transfer of title, or after a change of address, and such registration shall be in written form and signed by all of the owners of the Lot or by such persons as are authorized by law to represent the interest of the owner(s) thereof.

**4. Designation of Voting Representative Proxy.**

(a) If a Lot is owned by one person, his right to vote shall be established by the record title thereto. If title to a Lot is held by more than one person or by a firm, corporation, partnership, association, or other legal entity, or any combination thereof, such owners shall execute a proxy appointing and authorizing one person or alternate persons to attend all annual and special meetings of members and thereat to cast whatever vote the owner himself might cast if he were personally present. Such proxy shall be effective and remain in force unless voluntarily revoked, amended or sooner terminated by operation of law; provided, however, that within thirty (30) days after such revocation, amendment or termination, the owners shall reappoint and authorize one person or alternate persons to attend all annual and special meetings as provided in this Paragraph.

(b) The requirements herein contained in this Article shall be first met before an owner of a Lot shall be deemed in good standing and entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting of members.

**ARTICLE X  
OBLIGATIONS OF THE OWNERS**

**1. Assessments.**

All owners shall be obligated to pay the annual dues imposed by the Association to meet the common expenses. The assessments imposed hereunder shall be due and payable yearly in advance as provided in Article V, paragraph 2. The amount of such assessments may be altered in accordance with Article V of the Declaration. A member shall be deemed to be in good standing and entitled to vote at any annual or special meeting of members, within the meaning of these Bylaws, if, and only if, he shall have fully paid all assessments made or levied against him and the Lot or Lots owned by him, and is not in violation of any rule or regulation of the Association then in force.

**2. Lien.**

The obligations of each owner to pay assessments shall be secured by a lien on the Lot in favor of the Association and such obligation shall survive any sale thereof.

**3. General.**

(a) Each owner shall comply strictly with the provisions of the recorded Declaration and these Bylaws and amendments thereto.

(b) Each owner shall always endeavor to observe and promote the cooperative purposes for the accomplishment of which this project was developed.

**4. Use of Lots.**

All Lots shall be utilized only for residential purposes except as is otherwise provided in the Declarations and Plat Map.

**5. Use of General Common Areas.**

Each owner may use the general common areas, sidewalks, pathways, roads and streets located within the entire project in accordance with the purpose for which they were intended without hindering or encroaching upon the lawful rights of the other owners.

**ARTICLE XI  
ABATEMENT AND ENJOINMENT OF VIOLATIONS BY OWNERS**

**1. Abatement and Enjoyment.**

The violations of any rule or regulation accepted by the Board of Directors, or the Breach of any Bylaws, or the breach of any provision of the Declaration, shall give the Board of Directors or the Managing Agent the right, in addition to any other rights set forth therein, (i) to enter the Lot on which, or as to which, such violation or breach exists and to summarily abate and remove, at the expense of the defaulting Lot owner, any person, structure, thing or condition that may exist therein contrary to the intent and meaning of the provisions thereof, and the Board of Directors or Managing Agent shall not be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass, and to expel, remove and put out, using such force as may be necessary in so doing, without being liable to prosecution or any damages thereof; and (ii) to enjoin, abate, or remedy by appropriate legal proceedings, either at law or in equity, the continuance of any breach.

**2. Denial of use by Amenities.**

Should any owner be in default in the payment of any dues, assessments, or other sums due under the terms of the Declaration or these Bylaws, or be in violation of any of the terms of the Declaration, these Bylaws, or any rule or regulation then in force, after due notice to correct such violation, then in any of such events, such owner may be denied the use of any of the amenities until such default or violation is appropriately cured.

**ARTICLE XII  
COMMITTEES**

**1. Designation.**

The Board of Directors may, but shall not be required to, appoint an executive committee, and it may designate and appoint members to standing committees or special ad hoc committees for any useful or worthwhile purpose to function in an advisory capacity to the Board of Directors. The Board may establish rules for the conduct of these committees and may delegate responsibility to the said committees.

**2. Block Captains.**

A Block Captain shall be appointed for each street. They shall have the responsibility of distributing Association information and assisting new residents in settling into their Lots and becoming a part of the Association.

**3. Entertainment Committee.**

The Entertainment Committee, consisting of at least two (2) persons, shall have the responsibility of planning programs to make the best possible use of the facilities and amenities of the Association by means of developing an ongoing program of interaction and involvement.

**4. Newsletter Committee.**

The Newsletter Committee, consisting of at least one (1) person, shall have the responsibility of providing residents with up-to-date information on new residents, association functions, the progress of the development, committee vacancies, rules and regulations changes, and other appropriate information.

**5. Maintenance Committee.**

The Maintenance Committee shall have primary responsibility for the day-to-day performance and planning of all maintenance, replacement and repair of the Common Areas and Association property. Members of the Maintenance Committee shall be chosen by the Board of Directors so as to allow proportional representation of Lots. The Maintenance Committee shall also be responsible for estimating future needs for replacement and repair of the Common Areas and Association property and presenting that plan to the Board of Directors sixty (60) days prior to the budget being due.

**6. Architectural Committee.**

The Architectural Committee, consisting of at least five (5) persons, shall be chaired by a Board member and shall be responsible for the approval or denial of any requests for changes, addition or alterations to any structure on a Lot. The Architectural Committee shall be responsible for reviewing the neighborhood at least once a year and reporting to the Board any Lots not upholding the rules set forth in the Declaration, Bylaws or other rules and regulations.

**7. Vacancies.**

A vacancy in any committee shall be filled by the President until the next meeting of the Board of Directors.

**ARTICLE XIII  
COMPENSATION**

This Association is not organized for profit. No member, member of the Board of Directors, Officer or person from whom the Association may receive any property or funds shall receive or shall be lawfully entitled to receive an pecuniary profit from the operation thereof, and in no event shall any part of the funds or assets of the Association be paid as salary, credit for dues or compensation to, or distributed to, or inure to the benefit of any member of the Association of the Board of Directors, provided, however, that any member, Director or Officer, may from time to time, be reimbursed for his actual and reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the administration of the affairs of the Association.

If it is determined a Member has received compensation for services performed the Association shall be entitled to pursue reimbursement of those funds from the Member and from the individual Directors authorizing payment.

#### **ARTICLE XIV EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS**

The persons who shall be authorized to execute any and all contracts, documents, instruments or conveyances or encumbrances, including promissory notes, shall be the President or Vice President and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Association.

#### **ARTICLE XV MISCELLANEOUS**

**1. Conflict in Documents.**

In the event that any inconsistency or conflict exists between the items of the Declaration, these Bylaws, or any rule or regulation then in force, the inconsistency or conflict shall in every instance be controlled by the Declaration.

**2. Conflict Between Owners.**

In the event that any dispute between owners arises involving any of the common areas, amenities or any other matters concerning the project and the conflict cannot be resolved by the Managing Agent, it shall be resolved by the Board of Directors. This paragraph is not intended to make the Association a party to conflicts between Owners that are purely private.

**3. Due Process.**

In order to afford due process to each owner before any punitive action may be finally imposed by the Board of Directors, each owner shall have the right after receiving notice of the Board's intended imposition of a fine or other punitive action, of not less than ten (10) days written notice served upon the owner as provided by civil process in the State of Oklahoma, a hearing before the Board of Directors, en banc, shall then be available to any owner to present evidence for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating any penalty or punitive action at which hearing both the Association and the owner may produce evidence and present witnesses. The Board of Directors shall promptly resolve the dispute and announce its decision, which in such instances shall be final as to all matters.

**4. Exculpation of Unavoidable Loss.**

The Association shall not be liable for any loss to any owner or inflicted upon any Lot of the property of the owner situated therein, brought about by flooding, water damage caused by burst pipes, acts of God or other force majeure. It is intended that for losses of these nature, each owner will bear the same or effect his own insurance to cover the same. Each owner may obtain additional insurance at his own expense for his own benefit. Insurance coverage on all furnishings and decorations and other items of personal property belonging to an owner and casualty and public liability insurance coverage within each individual Lot are specifically made the responsibility of the owner thereof.

**ARTICLE XVI**  
**ENFORCEMENT OF GOVERNING DOCUMENTS; FINES.**

**1. Purpose and Procedure.**

a. Purpose.

As members of Cedar Lake Estates and the Villas of Cedar Lake Estates, we all want to see that the neighborhood is kept in an attractive and well maintained condition. The purpose of these rules is to enhance the enjoyment of the residents who live here and to maximize our property values.

b. Board Duty.

To ensure that these governing documents are followed, the Board of Directors has been given the responsibility to enforce them. It may levy fines, make special assessments and take other actions against violations or these rules.

c. Procedures.

Enforcement procedures include giving notice to a resident of a violation. This notice may be in the form of a letter or a posted sign. If the violation continues a fine may be assessed against either or both the homeowner and/or the resident or other action taken by the Board.

**2. Enforcement Process**

a. First Notice:

When the Board receives a report of a violation of the CC&Rs, Bylaws or Rules, it will send a letter to the residents bringing to their attention the violation. The letter will quote the pertinent Covenant, Bylaw, or Rule, ask that they cease any such activity and/or take action, as well as set a date by which time the condition must be remedied and come into compliance. It will not discuss fines, liens or other forms of enforcement.

b. Second Notice:

If a prohibited condition is not corrected, the Board will send a letter to the residents stating the nature of the violation, quote the pertinent Covenant, Bylaw, or Rule and notify them of the potential fine and methods of enforcement available to the Board. The letter will also set a date by which time the condition must be remedied.

c. Third Notice:

Upon a third notice of a prohibited activity, the Board may impose a fine against the residents in the amount given in the table below. Subsequent violations of the same Covenant, By-Law or rule are subject to fine increases to the maximum in the table below for each occurrence. In the alternative the Board may take action to remedy the violation and bill the residents for the costs or seek injunctive or other legal relief.



<p>Minor Offense (improper care of lawns/lots, creating/maintaining a nuisance, failure to control pets etc):</p>	<p>1<sup>st</sup> Violation - \$25 per day 2<sup>nd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$50 per day 3<sup>rd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$75 per day</p>
<p>Medium-Level Offense (proceeding with home improvement without AC approval, non-compliance with landscaping requirements, etc).</p>	<p>1<sup>st</sup> Violation - \$75 per day 2<sup>nd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$100 per day 3<sup>rd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$150 per day</p>
<p>Major Offense (proceeding with home construction without AC approval, maintaining a health or environmental hazard to HOA residents, etc):</p>	<p>1<sup>st</sup> Violation - \$300 per day 2<sup>nd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$400 per day 3<sup>rd</sup> Subsequent Violation - \$500 per day</p>

- d. Hearing:
 

An appeal/hearing request must be submitted in writing to the Board, within 10 business days from the date of the notice of the violation letter. The notified residents may address the Board and present their case regarding the violation at the first Board meeting following the receipt of the notice. If the residents choose to appear before the Board, it will hear them and any other concerned persons. **Following the hearing, or after the latter Board meeting, if the residents choose to not appear, the Board shall render a decision and such decision shall be final.**
  
- e. Collection of Fines and Costs:
 

If the residents refuse to pay the fines or costs, the Board may turn the debt over to the means granted in the Covenants and Bylaws to recover the fines and costs or place a lien against the property to recover all such fines and costs.
  
- f. Exceptions:
 

Certain violations may be so obvious and egregious that the Board has the authority to forego the above stated procedures and take immediate action. Those violations are ones that place the health, safety or welfare of our residents in danger.

**EXHIBIT "A"**  
**ARCHITECTURAL AND DESIGN RULES**  
**ADOPTED BY THE ARCHITECTURAL COMMITTEE**  
**OF CEDAR LAKE ESTATES**

The following uses and restrictions are hereby adopted by the Architectural Committee as a guide for the review and approval of any improvement upon any Lot or Commons.

**A. New Construction.**

New construction consists of any home on any Lot not previously in existence. The Cedar Lake Estates POA Architectural Committee requires the following conditions be met during new construction work within Cedar Lake Estates and the Villas at Cedar Lake Estates. These requirements are to help protect the character and harmony of the neighborhood. Failure to meet these requirements in a timely fashion will result in remediation by the CLE POA. Any costs associated with remediation will be invoiced to the property owner that is failing to meet these requirements and are due within 30 days. Failure to pay remediation charges will result in a lien being placed on the property. All expenses associated with recovering the remediation costs will be charged to the property owner.

1. Tin Horn/Drainage: A tin horn, where required, and proper drainage **MUST** be installed upon initial construction/dirt work at the site.
2. Silt Fence: Silt fences must be properly installed and maintained to prevent erosion into common areas, ponds and other properties.  
NOTE: It is the responsibility of the property owner to prevent erosion damages to common areas, pond and other properties. Any remediation costs associated with repair to adjoining properties will be charged to the property that causes these damages.
3. Construction Hours: Working hours are Monday thru Saturday, from 7:00am to 6:00pm. "Quiet" work (i.e. paint, plumbing and electrical finals) is allowed until 8:00pm. No work is allowed on Sunday. If you are found working outside or doing "loud" work after 6:00pm, you will be subject to a \$500 fine per occurrence.
4. Gate Codes: You will need to obtain a construction/builder code to enter into the neighborhood. This code will only work at the Waterloo gate.
5. Sign: A sign readily viewable from the street will be posted that identifies the address, builder and their emergency contact information.
6. Trash: A roll off or other trash containment will be provided on-site during construction. The builder will ensure that the site is reasonably clear of trash and will clear any trash that blows or enters other property. Trash or debris is not to be moved from one lot to another.
7. Portable Toilet: A serviced portable toilet will be provided on-site during construction. If a builder is building multiple homes on the same street, one toilet will be acceptable. However, it is not acceptable for a builder to have their subcontractors use another builder's toilet. Violations will be subject to a \$250 fine.
8. Construction Period: Once work commences on an approved project, it must continue without interruption, weather permitting, and must be completed within 14 months.

9. Paperwork:
  - a. Plans: A set of plans must be provided for review. This set shall include elevations, square footage, roofing material (manufacture and color), driveway concrete plans, plot plans showing home placement on lot, brick and/or stone color, trim/stucco paint colors as well as a general landscape plan.
  - b. A signed acknowledgement of these requirements, plans and the CLE POA Project Application MUST be submitted together before they will be reviewed. ALL APPROVALS MUST BE OBTAINED IN WRITING BEFORE WORK COMMENCES.
  - c. Inspections: Filed plans will be used to monitor construction work. Any substantive changes to the exterior must be submitted for revision approval IN ADVANCE of work being performed. Examples of changes that would require approval include: changes to the design of the home, materials (brick, roofing material, rock, siding), fencing, pools and water features. Failure to obtain approval may put you into the position of changing work performed to meet HOA requirements.

## **B. New Projects.**

New Projects are any project work that changes the outside front or back appearance of your existing home or property. The Cedar Lake Estates POA Architectural Committee requires the following conditions be met during any new project work within Cedar Lake Estates and the Villas at Cedar Lake Estates. These requirements are to help protect the character and harmony of the neighborhood. Failure to meet these requirements in a timely fashion will result in remediation by the CLE POA. Any costs associated with remediation will be invoiced to the property owner that is failing to meet these requirements and are due within 30 days. Failure to pay remediation charges will result in a lien being placed on the property. All expenses associated with recovering the remediation costs will be charged to the property owner.

1. Tin Horn/Drainage: A tin horn, where required, and proper drainage MUST be maintained during any new project work.
2. Silt Fence: Silt fences, when appropriate, must be properly installed and maintained to prevent erosion into common areas, ponds and other properties.

NOTE: It is the responsibility of the property owner to prevent erosion damages to common areas, creek, pond and other properties. Any remediation costs associated with repair to adjoining properties will be charged to the property that causes these damages.

3. Trash: The homeowner will ensure that the site is reasonably clear of trash and will clear any trash that blows or enters other property. Trash or debris is not to be moved from one lot to another.
4. Construction Period: Once work commences on an approved project, it must continue without interruption, weather permitting and must be completed within 14 months.
5. Paperwork:
  - a. Plans: A set of full-size plans must be provided for review and will be returned to the builder or owner. A reduced set of plans (8 ½ x 11 on paper or in PDF format) shall be provided BEFORE final approvals are provided.

- b. A signed acknowledgement of these requirements, plans, and the CLE POA Project Application MUST be submitted together before they will be reviewed. ALL APPROVALS MUST BE OBTAINED IN WRITING BEFORE WORK COMMENCES.
- c. Inspections: Filed plans will be used to monitor project work. Any substantive changes to the exterior must be submitted for revision approval IN ADVANCE of work being performed. Examples of changes that would require approval include: changes to the design of the home, materials (brick, roofing material, rock, siding), lighting, fencing, pools and water features. Failure to obtain approval may put you into the position of changing work performed to meet HOA requirements.

**C. General Standards.**

The Cedar Lake Estates Architectural Committee is commissioned to enforce the standards outlined within Cedar Lake Estates Covenants as well as establish other standards, requirements and rules necessary to protect the character, environment and harmony of the neighborhood. Although all new construction or changes to the exterior of your home must be approved in advance, the committee felt it appropriate to document the generally accepted standards (in addition to the covenants) to assist you in your planning.

1. Fencing: Four-foot black chain-link fencing is acceptable as well as cedar privacy fencing, constructed behind the front plane on each home.
2. Hot Tubs: Above ground hot tubs are acceptable if they are screened from the view of your neighbors.
3. Permanent Sheds or Pool Houses: The style, roof pitch and material of the permanent building material should correspond in style and architecture to that of the existing home. Generally speaking, the outside materials of the structure must coordinate with that of the existing home.
4. Play structures: Playground equipment or structure cannot be located front of the home or within 15 feet of the property line. Please keep your playground equipment or structures in good repair.
5. Landscape Lighting: Lighting that shines onto a neighbor's property is not allowed.
6. Retaining Walls: Due to the differences in the style of each home, these changes will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.
7. Electronic Dog Fencing: Although the fencing itself isn't visible from the street, the dogs frequently are visible and encountered by other homeowners walking along the street. Please keep the fenced area out of the front easement to keep a reasonable buffer between your pets and other homeowners and their children.
8. Pools & Water Features: All pools and water features are considered on a case-by-case basis. Above ground pools are not permitted.

**D. Grandfather Provision.**

Buildings that were constructed and changes that were made to a structure prior to February 14, 2014, that would otherwise be in violation of the Design Guidelines shall be permitted to remain without change. However, the homeowners with this situation should contact the Architectural Committee and request that it issue a letter approving this variance from the Design Guidelines. The Architectural Committee will issue a letter approving any such building or change. Such

letter will be essential to protect you and any purchaser of your home if you are charged with a violation of the Design Guidelines at a future time.

***E. Other Notes.***

Although not required, we encourage all homeowners to discuss their projects with their immediate neighbors before submitting an application to the Architectural Committee. We frequently contact neighbors to get input, particularly if the request doesn't conform to the existing norm. The review will go faster if the neighbors are already aware of your plans.